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102 Fuller Street 

Lift request - October 2021 

Brookline Preservation Commission 

Demolition Application Report 
 

Address:    102 Fuller Street 

Applicant:    Daniel Bernstein & An Yuan Guo  

Building Type:   House (partial) 

National Register Listing (if Applicable):  N/A 
 

                   

 

 
                        

 

Historical/Architectural Significance: 
 

102 Fuller Street was built in 1908 by J.E. Holland, designed by architect William C. Collett.  Collette was known for classic 

Colonial Revival designs and completed several commercial buildings for Edgar & Leonard Rhodes, the owners of the 

Rhodes Bros Co, a grocery and provisions store.  Collette designed the iconic Rhodes Bros Grocery store at 10-11 Harvard 

Street in 1905; 692-700 Washington Street (1912); the ñRhodes Blockò at 701-707 Washington Street and 1624-1632 

Beacon Street (1913).  His residential work inventoried to date includes homes at 61 Center Street (c. 1900), 92 Evans Road 

(1909) and 9 Downing Road.  61 Center Street and 102 Fuller Street are the only known works by Collett that were not built 

for the Rhodes Brothers. 

 

The lot at 102 Fuller Street was created during the subdivision of the former John Gibbs estate between 1893 and 1900.  

The land from Harvard Street to Gibbs Street was rapidly converted to a suburban environment in those years as the McKay 

family extended roads and divided the parcel into building lots.  In 1900, the McKay family still owned many undeveloped 

lots in the neighborhood, however, the lot at 102 Fuller was individually owned by Neil McBride.  The lot changed hands 

twice before a house was built in 1908 for Mildred Flora Hunting, a music teacher trained at the Boston Conservatory of 

Music.  Mildred, unmarried at the time, lived with her parents Herbert & Annie Hunting.  In 1911 Mildred married Frank 

Lawrence Hardy (the ceremony was held at 102 Fuller Street) and in 1913 the family relocated to Beacon Street.  The home 

was sold to L.H. Williams, who added a garage to the property in 1915.  By 1927 the Town Atlas shows A. Moran as the 

owner, with the large porch formerly wrapping the front left corner of the house removed.  The Moran family installed 

asbestos shingle siding on the home in 1962.  In 1999 the home was converted from a single family residence to a two 

family.   
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The two-story hipped roof home is a classic Colonial Revival design; its symmetrical façade features two full height 

projecting bays to either side of the single story entrance portico.  The portico is framed by groups of three ionic columns 

to either side of the stairs.  Though converted from a single to a two-family in 1999, the home retains its center entrance 

and door surround.  Exterior evidence of the conversion is limited to a simple iron rail running down the middle of the entry 

stairs.  Leaded side lights flank the door, which is spanned by a leaded glass elliptical fanlight above.  A door opens to the 

flat roof of the portico on the second story, also framed by a Palladian style surround of leaded glass windows.  A mid-story 

bay window with leaded glass is located on the rear elevation, over the rear entrance. 

Unusually deep, boxed eaves extend to cover the projecting bays of the home, adorned with decorative brackets above a 

wide cornice.  Two hipped roof dormers are located on the front and rear elevations, each with three double hung windows.  

 

 

The house at 102 Fuller Street meets the following criteria for an initial determination of significance: 

 

c. The building is associated with one or more significant historic persons or events, or with the broad architectural, cultural, 

political, economic, or social history of the town or Commonwealth; and 

 

d. The building is historically or architecturally significant in terms of its period, style, method of construction, or its 

association with a significant architect or builder, either by itself or as part of a group of buildings. 

 

The building at 102 Fuller Street retains integrity of location, design, setting, feeling, materials, and workmanship. 

 

At its public hearing on September 14th, 2021, the Preservation Commission upheld the significance determination for 102 

Fuller Street, imposing a 12 month demolition stay on the house.  The applicant has requested a lift of stay based on plans 

for an addition to the rear of the home.  The design preserves the mirrored bays and portico of the façade and the 3 leaded 

glass windows of the first floor main entrance will be restored.  Enlarged windows with window wells will be added at the 

basement level.  The existing door and leaded glass windows at the second floor will be replaced with a pair of French doors 

and a balustrade added to the existing porticoôs roof, making this space accessible to occupants. 

 

On the Clarence Street elevation, the existing (c.1999) ramp and spiral fire escape will be removed.  The plans add a first 

floor deck with French doors, two additional sets of French doors with guardrails, and a second floor modern bay window 

to this elevation. 

 

At the attic level, large hip-roofed dormers with 4 double hung windows each will be added to all elevations.  These dormers 

appear to be constructed in line with the plane of the existing walls below.  At the façade & rear elevation, the enlarged 

dormers will replace existing dormers with 3 double hung windows.  The existing chimneys will be removed, as will the 

existing skylights.   

 

The addition, located on the rear elevation, will require the removal of the existing rear porch entrance and bay leaded glass 

windows.  With a footprint of 675 square feet, the two story modern addition covers the majority of the rear elevation, inset 

1ô on the right and left sides.  Distinguished from the existing home with vertical board and batten siding and vertical wood 

screening, the additionôs connection with the main building is stepped down at the roofline to protect the existing roof 

brackets and wide cornice trim.  This step down is only present on the right and left sides of the addition, while at the center 

of the addition the new roofline is tight to the eave of the existing building.  The applicant has studied the visibility of this 

connection and provided it to maintain the integrity of the existing building where visible from the street.  The center is 

raised to provide needed functionality on the interior (see sheet A301 for a section of this detail). 

  

The applicant proposes to replace the existing asbestos siding with Hardie 6ò exposure siding, to reintroduce the traditional 

paneled bay window trim and repair the beadboard soffits and roof brackets.  Copper gutters and downspouts will be 

installed at the existing house, replacing existing aluminum.  All existing windows in the house will be replaced with 

Simulated Divided Light clad windows (either fiberglass or aluminum) with muntins to match existing patterns.  All new-

opening windows will be fiberglass, insulated glass construction with no muntins.  All existing doors will also be replaced 

with aluminum clad doors with the exception of the front door, which will be restored. 
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Aerial view of 102 Fuller Street, looking east. 

 

 

 
Aerial view of 102 Fuller Street, looking north. 
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Aerial view of 102 Fuller Street, looking west. 

 

 

Aerial view of 102 Fuller Street, looking south. 
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Façade, 102 Fuller Street 
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